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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Harrisonburg Division 
 
BETTY M. WEST,    ) 
 Plaintiff,    ) Civil Action No. 5:16-cv-00029 
      ) 
v.      )  REPORT & RECOMMENDATION 
      ) 
AMERICAS PROCESSING    ) By: Joel C. Hoppe 
CENTER, INC. et al.,    )  United States Magistrate Judge 
 Defendants.    )    
 
 Before the Court are Plaintiff Betty West’s Motion for Default Judgment against 

Defendants Americas Processing Center, Inc. (“APC”) and Michael R. Jackson, ECF No. 22, and 

Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs (“Pl.’s Mot. for Fees”), ECF No. 24, pursuant to violations 

of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (the “FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq. The motions 

are before me by referral under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B). ECF No. 20. Plaintiff has briefed the 

motions (“Pl.’s Br. in Supp.”), ECF No. 28, and the Court held an evidentiary hearing on January 

9, 2018, ECF No. 25. Neither APC nor Jackson has appeared in this matter, and the Clerk of 

Court entered both Defendants’ default on February 22, 2017, ECF No. 19. Having considered 

West’s complaint, briefs, evidence, and the applicable law, I find that she is entitled to default 

judgment against Defendant APC, but not against Defendant Jackson. Therefore, I recommend 

that the presiding District Judge grant in part and deny in part West’s Motion for Default 

Judgment. As to West’s Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs, I find that West is entitled to 

$9,671.25 in attorney’s fees and costs and recommend that the presiding District Judge award 

that amount. 

I. Procedural History 

 On May 11, 2016, West filed a complaint in this Court against APC, Jackson, Gregory 

Blue, René Ward, Charles Kane, and John Doe, alleging multiple violations of the FDCPA. 
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Compl., ECF No. 2. After receiving multiple extensions of time to serve process, West submitted 

proof of service as to APC and Jackson on January 11, 2017. See ECF Nos. 16, 17. West moved 

for an entry of default against APC and Jackson on February 22, 2017, ECF No. 18, and the 

Clerk of Court entered default against both Defendants that same day, ECF No. 19. West filed 

her Motion for Default Judgment against APC and Jackson on November 22, 2017, ECF No. 22, 

and her Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs on January 8, 2018, ECF No. 24. These matters are 

now ripe.1 

II. Standard of Review 

In moving for default judgment after the clerk has entered default pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 55(a), “[i]f the plaintiff’s claim is for a sum certain or a sum that can be 

made certain by computation, the clerk—on the plaintiff’s request, with an affidavit showing the 

amount due—must enter judgment for that amount and costs against a defendant who has been 

defaulted for not appearing and who is neither a minor nor an incompetent person.” Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 55(b)(1). “In all other cases, the party must apply to the court for a default judgment.” Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 55(b)(2). In ruling on the motion for default judgment, the court must first satisfy itself 

that it has subject matter jurisdiction over the action and personal jurisdiction over the defendant 

who failed to plead or otherwise defend. Berthiaume v. Doremus, 998 F. Supp. 2d 465, 470 (W.D. 

Va. 2014). The latter determination includes ensuring that the defendant against whom default 

judgment is sought was properly served with process. Koehler v. Dodwell, 152 F.3d 304, 306 

(4th Cir. 1998) (“Absent waiver or consent, a failure to obtain proper service on the defendant 

deprives the court of personal jurisdiction over the defendant.”).  

                                                 
1 After the hearing, West filed a stipulation of voluntary dismissal pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) regarding Defendants Blue, Ward, Charles, Kane, and Doe. ECF No. 29. The 
presiding District Judge entered an order dismissing these individuals without prejudice on February 1, 
2018. ECF No. 30. 



3 
 

Once the court has satisfied itself that it has jurisdiction, it must “determine whether the 

well-pleaded allegations in [the] complaint support the relief sought.” Ryan v. Homecomings Fin. 

Network, 253 F.3d 778, 780 (4th Cir. 2001). The court “must accept the well-pleaded factual 

allegations of a plaintiff’s complaint as true and deem them admitted by a defendant.” 

Berthiaume, 998 F. Supp. 2d at 470–71 (emphasis omitted) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(6); Pitts 

ex rel. Pitts v. Seneca Sports, Inc., 321 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1356 (S.D. Ga. 2004)); see also 

DIRECTV v. Pernites, 200 F. App’x 257, 258 (4th Cir. 2006) (per curiam) (noting that a 

defendant in default “is not held to admit facts that are not well-pleaded or to admit conclusions 

of law”). Additionally, because damages are necessarily uncertain, the court must make an 

independent determination of the sum to be awarded. Int’l Painters & Allied Trades Indus. 

Pension Fund v. Capital Restoration & Painting Co., 919 F. Supp. 2d 680, 684 (D. Md. 2013) 

(citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(c)). The court may hold a hearing when it needs to conduct an 

accounting, determine the amount of damages, establish the truth of any allegation, or investigate 

any other matter. Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2)(A)–(D).  

III. Discussion 

 I recommend that the presiding District Judge grant West’s Motion for Default Judgment 

against APC, but deny the motion as to Jackson. Although West has demonstrated the Court’s 

jurisdiction over both the subject matter of this action and APC, she has not demonstrated its 

jurisdiction over Jackson. Likewise, her complaint pleads facts sufficient to state a claim under 

the FDCPA against APC, but not against Jackson. I further recommend that the presiding District 

Judge grant West’s Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs because the FDCPA expressly 

contemplates an award of attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3), and 

West has demonstrated that she is entitled to affirmative relief against APC under the statute. 
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A. West’s Complaint 

 West’s action arises out of a series of interactions with APC employees. On May 12, 

2015, West received a call on her cell phone from a number appearing as 678-274-6349 on her 

caller ID. Compl. ¶ 10. Ward, the caller, identified herself as an employee of the Commonwealth 

of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”), and explained that “she had two felony charges against Ms. 

West which were ‘already filed.’” Id. ¶ 11. Ward asked West if she ever had payday loans, to 

which West replied she had, prompting Ward to state, “well, we’ve got you now, you admitted 

that.” Id. ¶¶ 12–14. Ward then told West that she “owed $929 from an alleged $500 payday loan 

with Allied Cash Advance in 2009, using a check drawn on City National Bank in West 

Virginia.” Id. ¶ 15. Despite West denying that she owed this loan, Ward told West that she would 

“be locked up” unless she could “come up with $500 by 4:00 p.m. that day.” Id. ¶¶ 16–17. West 

began crying and requested to end the call, but Ward refused, “directed Ms. West to ‘dry it up 

[and] get over the tears,’” and turned over the phone to an unidentified man (i.e., John Doe) who 

reaffirmed that West had until 4:00 p.m. to make good on her debt and “demanded the names of 

two people who would vouch for Ms. West in court, to say that she did not do things like this.” 

Id. ¶¶ 20–21. “Ms. West, out of fear, gave this man the names of two references.” Id. ¶ 22. Doe 

then gave the phone back to Ward, who threatened West with felony charges (“one for the bank, 

and one for the payday loan location”), asserted that she had West’s conduct on tape (“we’ve got 

you on tape, going in there and getting the money, we know you did it”), and accused West of 

being a thief who “had done this many times before.” Id. ¶¶ 23–26.2 Neither Ward nor Doe stated 

that they were “attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained [would] be used 

                                                 
2 West testified at the evidentiary hearing that the voices were strong, “like a police officer,” and that both 
individuals yelled at her throughout the call. 
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for that purpose.” Id. ¶¶ 27–28. Moreover, West did not have a checking account with City 

National Bank in West Virginia. Id. ¶ 29. 

 “After the phone call, Ms. West was hysterical.” Id. ¶ 30. She pulled down the shades, 

locked the doors, and continued crying; her blood pressure increased, causing her hands to shake, 

her breathing to get heavy, and her face and hands to get red; she paced her home and worried 

she would have a heart attack. “When [her] grandson, Mike, got home, she told him ‘Oh my 

God, I’m goin’ to jail!’” Id. ¶¶ 30–31. Mike, observing West’s condition, also worried that she 

would have a heart attack. Id. ¶ 32. West did not sleep well that night, and she continued to 

experience physical pain throughout the next day because of stress from the phone call. Id. ¶¶ 

33–34. Indeed, West stated at the evidentiary hearing that she kept looking out the window and 

was waiting for the police to come get her.  

 West did not receive anything in the mail as a result of this phone call, and she did not 

hear back until May 26, 2015, when a man identifying himself as Charles Kane called from a 

blocked number and inquired about West’s payment on the 2009 payday loan. Id. ¶¶ 35–37. 

When West relayed that she had been contacted about the debt, “Kane insisted that the issue 

needed to ‘get taken care of’” and initially demanded immediate payment in full, but then said 

that West could pay in monthly installments of $100 “using a specific account number, through 

MoneyGram to Americas Processing Center, Receiving Code 12104,” which would result in the 

money going to Jacksonville, Florida. Id. ¶¶ 38–41. Kane did not state to West that he was 

attempting to collect a debt or that he would use any obtained information for that purpose. Id. ¶ 

42.  

 On July 15, 2015, West called 678-274-6349—the number Ward called her from on May 

12—and spoke to Crystal Barkley. Id. ¶¶ 43–44. West asked if she had reached APC, which 
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Barkley confirmed before transferring West to Brenda Carter. Id. ¶¶ 45–47. West told Carter, “I 

understand that I’m supposed to send money to Americas Processing Center on Washington 

Street in Jacksonville, Florida, is that who I’m talking to?” Id. ¶ 48. Carter confirmed that West 

had “the right place,” but after getting West’s information and trying unsuccessfully to locate her 

file, Carter told West that she “should ‘just disregard’ whatever she’d been told on the phone 

before and that ‘no one should bother her anymore.’” Id. ¶¶ 49–50 (brackets omitted).  

 Both West and her grandson testified at the evidentiary hearing. They confirmed the facts 

alleged in  West’s complaint. They also indicated that West had not been contacted about the debt 

after speaking with Barkley at APC on July 15, 2015. 

 West asserts eleven causes of action against all of the Defendants for various violations of 

the FDCPA. She bases her complaint on violations of § 1692d (Count 1); § 1692d(6) (Count 2); 

§ 1692e (Count 3); §§ 1692e(1), (4), (5), (7), (11), and (14) (Counts 4 through 9); § 1692f (Count 

10); and § 1692g (Count 11). For each cause of action, West contends that she is entitled to 

actual and statutory damages against the Defendants, as well as reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs. Compl. ¶¶ 51–84. 

B. The Court’s Jurisdiction 

1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 as West’s claims 

arise under the FDCPA. See also Martin v. Lagualt, 315 F. Supp. 2d 811, 812–13 (E.D. Va. 2004) 

(“[T]he Fair Debt Collection Practices Act [is] a federal statute which . . . creates a private cause 

of action against creditors for the use of unseemly debt collection techniques.”). 

2. Personal Jurisdiction 
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“Federal courts ordinarily follow state law in determining the bounds of their jurisdiction 

over persons.” Daimler AG v. Bauman, 571 U.S. 117, 125 (2014). “This is because a federal 

district court’s authority to assert personal jurisdiction in most cases is linked to service of 

process on a defendant ‘who is subject to the jurisdiction of a court of general jurisdiction in the 

state where the district court is located.’”3 Walden v. Fiore, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 1121 (quoting Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 4(k)(1)(A)). A federal court in Virginia may exercise personal jurisdiction over a non-

resident defendant if (1) it is authorized by the Commonwealth’s long-arm statute and (2) the 

exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with federal due process principles. See Carefirst of Md., 

Inc. v. Carefirst Pregnancy Ctrs., Inc., 334 F.3d 390, 396 (4th Cir. 2003). Courts in Virginia 

generally may complete this inquiry in one step because the Commonwealth’s long-arm statute 

authorizes the exercise of personal jurisdiction to the extent permitted by the federal Due Process 

Clause. Consulting Eng’rs Corp. v. Geometric Ltd., 561 F.3d 273, 277 (4th Cir. 2009) (citing Va. 

Code § 8.01-328.1(A)(1)). Thus, “the court’s inquiry is limited to whether it would violate due 

process to require [each defendant] to appear and defend in this forum.” Tatoian v. Andrews, 100 

F. Supp. 3d 549, 553 (W.D. Va. 2015).  

The “constitutional touchstone” for exercising personal jurisdiction is “whether the 

defendant purposefully established ‘minimum contacts’ in the forum State.” Burger King Corp. 

v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985). “[I]t is essential in each case that there be some act by 

which the defendant purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the 

forum State, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws.” Id. at 475 (quoting Hanson v. 

                                                 
3 A component of the Court’s jurisdictional inquiry includes determining whether the defendants against 
whom default has been entered were properly served. West served process on both APC and Jackson by 
substituted service on the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and she submitted proof of service 
to the Court via affidavit. See ECF Nos. 16, 17. Such service is permitted “[w]hen the exercise of personal 
jurisdiction is authorized by this chapter” and the party files an appropriate affidavit with the Court. Va. 
Code Ann. § 8.01-329(A), (B). As explained below, personal jurisdiction is proper as to APC, but not as to 
Jackson. Therefore, West’s service of process is valid as to APC, but it is invalid as to Jackson.   
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Denckla, 357 U.S. 235, 253 (1958)). “This purposeful availment requirement ensures that a 

defendant will not be haled into” another state’s courts “solely as a result of random, fortuitous, 

or attenuated contacts, or of the unilateral activity of another party or a third person.” Id. 

(internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state 

defendant is proper, however, when the defendant himself (or itself) established “certain 

minimum contacts with the State such that the maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional 

notions of fair play and substantial justice.” Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown, 

564 U.S. 915, 923 (2011) (brackets and quotation marks omitted); see Burger King Corp., 471 

U.S. at 476–78; Tatoian, 100 F. Supp. 3d at 553–54. 

The Supreme Court has “recognized two types of personal jurisdiction: ‘general’ 

(sometimes called ‘all-purpose’) jurisdiction and ‘specific’ (sometimes called ‘case-linked’) 

jurisdiction.” Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Supr. Ct. of Cal., San Francisco Cty., 137 S. Ct. 1773, 

1779–80 (2017) (quoting Goodyear, 564 U.S. at 919). “A court with general jurisdiction may 

hear any claim against that defendant, even if all the incidents underlying the claim occurred in a 

different State.” Id. at 1780. General personal jurisdiction lies when the defendant has 

purposefully established “continuous and systematic” contact with the forum state, Goodyear, 

564 U.S. at 919, such as when an individual lives or resides there, Bristol-Myers Squibb, 137 S. 

Ct. at 1780. See J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873, 880 (2011). “Specific 

jurisdiction is very different.” Bristol-Myers Squibb, 137 S. Ct. at 1780. For a court to “exercise 

specific jurisdiction, the suit must arise out of or relate to the defendant’s contacts with the 

forum.” Id. (internal quotations and brackets omitted). Put differently, “there must be ‘an 

affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally, [an] activity or an 

occurrence that takes place in the forum State.’” Bristol-Myers Squibb, 137 S. Ct. at 1781 
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(quoting Goodyear, 564 U.S. at 919). West’s claims against APC and Jackson invoke specific, 

rather than general, personal jurisdiction.   

 a. APC 

Here, West has demonstrated that the Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over APC. 

West, while at her home in Grottoes, Virginia, received two calls from APC’s employees 

regarding an alleged debt. See Compl. ¶ 2; see also supra Pt. III.A. She contends that these calls 

constituted violations of the FDCPA, and the bulk of the allegations in her a complaint arise from 

them. As discussed below, West’s complaint pleads facts sufficient to state a claim against APC 

for a violation of the FDCPA. Moreover, West alleges that Ward represented that she was an 

agent of “Commonwealth of Virginia” who ostensibly had the power to immediately arrest and 

jail West unless she immediately paid the debt, which supports an inference that Ward knowingly 

and intentionally reached into Virginia to conduct activities on APC’s behalf. Thus, the Court is 

satisfied that it has personal jurisdiction over APC because APC, through its agents, contacted 

West in Virginia, West’s suit arises out of these communications, and the Court’s exercise of 

jurisdiction over APC would not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.,” 

Int’l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945). 

 b. Jackson 

Conversely, West has not demonstrated that the Court may exercise personal jurisdiction 

over Jackson. West asserts that Jackson lives in Florida and “owned, operated and managed 

APC.” Compl. ¶ 5. She alleges generally that Jackson created and oversaw the policies and 

procedures utilized by Ward, Doe, and Kane in contacting West, see id., but she does not contend 

that Jackson personally participated in any of the events underlying her claims. Likewise, West 

does not allege that Jackson himself, as opposed to APC, purposefully directed his activities 
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toward either her or other residents of Virginia. See Foster v. Arletty 3 Sarl, 278 F.3d 409, 415 

(4th Cir. 2002) (“[T]raditional notions of fair play and substantial justice are offended by 

requiring a non-resident to defend itself in a forum when the non-resident never purposefully 

availed itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum, thus never invoking the 

benefits and protections of its laws.”); Metro. Reg’l Info. Sys., Inc. v. Am. Home Realty Network, 

Inc., 888 F. Supp. 2d 691, 700 (D. Md. 2012) (explaining that the court’s jurisdiction over an 

individual defendant must be based on that defendant’s personal contacts with the forum state, 

and “not simply his status as of officer” of an organizational defendant). In short, the Court is not 

satisfied that it has personal jurisdiction over Jackson and thus finds that it would be 

inappropriate to enter default judgment against him. Freedom Hawk Kayak, LLC v. Ya Tai Elec. 

Appliances Co., 908 F. Supp. 2d 763, 766 (W.D. Va. 2012) (“In the absence of personal 

jurisdiction, the court should decline to enter a default judgment and sua sponte dismiss an action 

in which the defendant has not appeared and implicitly or explicitly consented to the court’s 

jurisdiction.”); see also Koehler, 152 F.3d at 306–07 (“[A]ny judgment entered against a 

defendant over whom the court does not have personal jurisdiction is void.”). Accordingly, I 

recommend that the presiding District Judge dismiss the claims against Jackson for lack of 

personal jurisdiction.4 

C. Analysis of West’s Complaint 

 1. Violations of the FDCPA  

The FDCPA exists “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to 

insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

                                                 
4 Typically, when a court dismisses a party for lack of personal jurisdiction, the court does not address the 
adequacy of the allegations against that party. Nonetheless, to present a complete and thorough report and 
recommendation on all the issues raised by Plaintiff’s motion for default judgment, the undersigned will 
also address the adequacy of the allegations against Jackson. 
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competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against 

debt collection abuses.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e). To state a claim under the FDCPA, a plaintiff must 

plead facts sufficient to establish “(1) that the plaintiff is a ‘consumer’ as defined by the FDCPA; 

(2) that the defendant is a ‘debt collector’ as defined by the FDCPA; and (3) that the defendant 

engaged in any act or omission in violation of the FDCPA.” Crawford v. Senex Law, P.C., 259 F. 

Supp. 3d 464, 469 (W.D. Va. 2017). “The FDCPA is a strict liability statute that prohibits false or 

deceptive representations in collecting a debt, as well as certain abusive debt collection 

practices.” McLean v. Ray, 488 F. App’x 677, 682 (4th Cir. 2012). In evaluating whether a 

violation occurred, “the Fourth Circuit has embraced ‘the least sophisticated consumer’ standard, 

whose basic purpose is ‘to ensure that the FDCPA protects all consumers, the gullible as well as 

the shrewd.’” Yarney v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 929 F. Supp. 2d 569, 575 (W.D. Va. 2013) 

(quoting United States v. Nat’l Fin. Servs., Inc., 98 F.3d 131, 136 (4th Cir. 1996)). “The standard 

for the least sophisticated consumer ‘is low, close to the bottom of the sophistication meter.’” Id. 

(quoting Morgan v. Credit Adjustment Bd., Inc., 999 F. Supp. 803, 805 (E.D. Va. 1998)). 

“Because the FDCPA is a strict liability statute, a consumer need only prove one violation to 

trigger liability.” Valdez v. Arm Wyn, LLC, No. 7:14cv263, 2015 WL 3661102, at *2 (W.D. Va. 

June 12, 2015) (quoting Grant-Fletcher v. McMullen & Drury, P.A., 964 F. Supp. 2d 514, 521 (D. 

Md. 2013)). 

 Here, West is a consumer as defined by the FDCPA as she is a “natural person obligated 

or allegedly obligated to pay any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(1). The payday loan, which West 

admitted at the evidentiary hearing she had taken out because she needed a cash advance, 

qualifies as a debt as defined by the FDCPA. Id. § 1692a(5) (defining “debt” as “any obligation 

or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the 
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money, property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for 

personal, family, or household purposes”). The two remaining elements will be addressed below 

as they pertain to APC and Jackson. 

  a. APC’s Liability 

Having shown that she is a consumer, West must further demonstrate that APC is a debt 

collector and that it violated the FDCPA. West’s complaint sufficiently pleads facts to meet these 

elements.  

The FDCPA defines a debt collector as “any person who uses any instrumentality of 

interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the collection 

of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or 

due or asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). It also includes “any creditor 

who, in the process of collecting his own debts, uses any name other than his own name which 

would indicate that a third person is collecting or attempting to collect such debts.” Id. In other 

words, “this provision defines a debt collector as (1) a person whose principal purpose is to 

collect debts; (2) a person who regularly collects debts owed to another; or (3) a person who 

collects its own debts, using a name other than its own as if it were a debt collector.” Henson v. 

Santander Consumer USA, Inc., 817 F.3d 131, 136 (4th Cir. 2016). Here, West alleges that APC 

is a debt collector because it “is in the business of and regularly engages in the collection of 

consumer debt.” Compl. ¶ 4. She also alleges facts describing two occasions where APC sought 

to collect from her a debt owed to Allied Cash Advance. See generally id. ¶¶ 10–42. Because 

APC attempted to collect a debt owed to another, it qualifies as a debt collector. See Henson v. 

Santander Consumer USA, Inc., 137 S. Ct. 1718, 1720 (2017) (“Everyone agrees that the term 
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[debt collector] embraces the repo man—someone hired by a creditor to collect an outstanding 

debt.”).  

APC’s liability for violating the FDCPA stems largely from the actions of its agents—

Ward, Kane, and Doe—that plainly fall within the statute’s ambit. See West v. Costen, 558 F. 

Supp. 564, 573 (W.D. Va. 1983) (“As a corporation can only act through its agents, [defendant] 

MSF may be held liable for the violations of its collection agents.”). During the initial 

communication with West on May 12, 2015, Ward told West that she worked for the 

Commonwealth. When West called this number in July, however, she spoke with two 

representatives who confirmed she had reached APC. These facts, taken as true, infer that Ward 

was not associated with the Commonwealth, but rather was an agent of APC, the entity from 

which Ward’s call originated. This misidentification violates § 1692e(1)’s proscription of making 

a “false representation or implication that the debt collector is vouched for, bonded by, or 

affiliated with the United States or any State” when attempting to collect a debt, which West 

asserts in Count 4. In Count 8, West alleges that neither Ward nor Doe identified themselves as 

debt collectors who were attempting to collect a debt or conveyed that any information they 

obtained from West would be used for that purpose in violation of § 1692e(11). Ward and Doe’s 

failure to tell West that any information they obtained would be used in attempting to collect the 

debt constitutes a violation of this section of the FDCPA. See also Russey v. Rankin, 911 F. Supp. 

1449, 1455 (D.N.M. 1995) (concluding that a failure to include required disclosures with all 

communications constituted a violation of § 1692e(11) and that “[t]he omission speaks for itself 

and does not require any analysis”).  

Ward and Doe’s general conduct during the May 12 phone call also violated the FDCPA. 

First, as alleged in Count 1, their harsh words and intimidating tone violated § 1692d, which 
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prohibits debt collectors from engaging “in any conduct the natural consequence of which is to 

harass, oppress, or abuse any person in connection with the collection of a debt.” See Dryden v. 

Accredited Collection Agency, Inc., No. 3:14cv255, 2015 WL 3646649, at *4 (E.D. Va. June 10, 

2015) (granting plaintiff’s motion for default judgment in part because defendant called plaintiff 

at her place of employment and occasionally screamed at her, in violation of § 1692d); cf. Fox v. 

Citicorp Credit Servs., Inc., 15 F.3d 1507, 1516 (9th Cir. 1994) (reversing summary judgment in 

favor of defendant because “[t]hreatening and intimidating calls to a consumer at an 

inconvenient time or place could rationally support a jury finding of harassing conduct” under § 

1692d). Their threat of arrest and imprisonment if West did not make a payment by 4:00 p.m. 

that day, as alleged in Count 5, also violates of § 1692e(4), which prohibits “the representation or 

implication that nonpayment of any debt will result in the arrest or imprisonment of any person . 

. . unless such action is lawful and the debt collector or creditor intends to take such action.” 

Although the complaint does not include enough facts to determine whether APC lawfully could 

have sought assistance from the authorities to effectuate this threat, that it never followed up on 

its threats, never sought a warrant from the appropriate authorities, and indeed stopped 

contacting West supports the reasonable inference that APC did not intend to seek law 

enforcement’s assistance. See Guidry v. Clare, 442 F. Supp. 2d 282, 289–90 (E.D. Va. 2006) 

(explaining that debt collectors do not violate § 1692e(4) “every time they [seek] help from the 

authorities” because the FDCPA “make[s] clear that a debt collector may threaten legal action, 

where permitted by law, provided the collector intends to follow through on these threats” 

(emphasis added)). Thus, Count 5 states a violation of § 1692e(4). 

 Kane’s actions during the second call with West on May 26 also constituted violations of 

the FDCPA that reasonably can be attributed to APC. Kane initiated the second interaction when 



15 
 

he called from a blocked number. Despite not calling from the same number as Ward, Kane gave 

West instructions to send the money needed to settle her debt to a “MoneyGram” account 

associated with APC. Again, these facts support the reasonable inference that Kane contacted 

West and attempted to collect a debt on APC’s behalf. During the course of this interaction, 

however, Kane did not identify himself as a debt collector or explain that any information 

obtained would be used in debt collection efforts. This too is a violation of § 1692e(11) as 

articulated in Count 8 of West’s complaint.  

 Similarly, § 1692d(6) proscribes “the placement of telephone calls without meaningful 

disclosure of the caller’s identity.” As alleged in Count 2, the conduct of Ward, Doe, and Kane 

constitutes a violation of this section of the FDCPA. Ward falsely told West that she worked for 

the Commonwealth. Doe did not identify himself or his employer, but given his participation on 

the call initiated by Ward, the reasonable inference is that he too was calling on behalf of the 

same employer as Ward, which West later determined to be APC. Kane, despite giving contact 

information for APC, did not explain to West the nature of APC’s business, i.e., debt collection, 

sufficient to provide her with meaningful disclosure. See Chatman v. GC Servs., LP, 57 F. Supp. 

3d 560, 566 (D.S.C. 2014) (describing allegations that the defendant left two messages for the 

plaintiff that “provided only the caller’s first name, an inaudible last name, and a request that 

Plaintiff return the call at a specified number,” but did not disclose “that the call was made by or 

on behalf of GC, that GC was a debt collector, or that the call was for the purpose of collecting a 

debt,” and concluding that “it appear[ed] at first blush that both messages violated the plain 

language of Section[] 1692d(6)”). 

 Additional omissions by APC also subject it to FDCPA liability. In Count 11, West 

alleges that she never received any written communication from APC after either call. Section 
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1692g generally requires a debt collector, within five days after the initial communication with a 

consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, to send  

the consumer a written notice containing (1) the amount of the debt; (2) the name 
of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; (3) a statement that unless the 
consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the 
debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt 
collector; (4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing 
within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the 
debt collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against 
the consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the 
consumer by the debt collector; and (5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s 
written request within the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the 
consumer with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the 
current creditor 
 

15 U.S.C. § 1692g(1)–(5). As alleged, the initial communication did not contain this information, 

and APC never provided West with the required written disclosures. The allegations of this 

failure, taken as true, subject APC to liability under the FDCPA. See Crawford, 259 F. Supp. 3d 

at 472 (finding that plaintiffs stated facts sufficient to establish defendant’s violation of FDCPA 

when the plaintiffs’ complaint “included facts alleging that they were deprived of the required 

disclosures, in violation of §§ 1692e(11) and 1692g”). 

 Overall, the FDCPA is a strict liability statute, and APC can be held liable for violations 

committed by its agents or employees. Here, the well-pled facts, taken as true, establish that 

Ward, Doe, and Kane called West on APC’s behalf and their conduct and omissions during these 

calls violated numerous provisions of the FDCPA. Further, APC’s failure to provide the required 

disclosures after initially communicating with West also violated the FDCPA. Consequently, 

West’s complaint sets out facts sufficient to state a claim against APC, and therefore she is 

entitled to default judgment against APC. 

  b. Jackson’s Liability 
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West states that “Jackson is a ‘debt collector’ as the term is defined and/or used in the 

FDCPA” because he “used interstate commerce and the mails in a business the principal purpose 

of which was the collection of debts.” Compl. ¶ 5. This tracks the definition of debt collector in 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.§ 1692a(6), but West does not describe any other conduct attributable to 

Jackson to support this contention. The Court need not accept West’s “formulaic recitation of the 

elements” or “naked assertions devoid of further factual enhancement.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 

U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Similarly, West’s complaint does not allege that Jackson personally 

participated in any of the interactions giving rise to her claims. She generally asserts that he 

owned APC, created the procedures used to violate the FDCPA, and oversaw APC’s collection 

efforts, but these conclusory allegations are not sufficient to state a claim against Jackson 

personally. See generally Woods v. City of Greensboro, 855 F.3d 639, 647 (4th Cir. 2017) 

(explaining that a plaintiff must “do more than ‘plead[] facts that are merely consistent with a 

defendant’s liability;’ the facts alleged must ‘allow[] the court to draw the reasonable inference 

that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.’” (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678)). 

Moreover, being the owner, operator, and manager of APC does not, by itself, make Jackson 

personally liable for the FDCPA violations of APC’s employees or agents. See Costen, 558 F. 

Supp. at 585 (noting that “[a]n officer of a corporation cannot be held personally liable” for a 

corporate employee’s “wrongful conduct . . . absent [the officer’s] personal involvement with the 

conduct”). Overall, then, West does not allege any well-pled facts showing that Jackson is a debt 

collector or that he can be held liable for violations of the FDCPA as described in her complaint. 

Therefore, West is not entitled to default judgment against Jackson. 

 2. Damages 
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 The FDCPA allows a person to recover both actual and statutory damages against any 

debt collector who violates the statute’s provisions with respect to that person. See 15 U.S.C. § 

1692k(a)(1), (2)(A). “An individual is entitled to recover ‘any actual damage sustained by such 

person as a result of a debt collector’s failure to comply with the FDCPA’” and “actual damages 

under the Act may include damages for emotional distress.” Valdez, 2015 WL 3661102, at *3 

(brackets omitted) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1)).  

 Here, West requests $10,000 in actual damages. Pl.’s Br. in Supp. 10. She notes that “the 

threatening, belligerent, deceptive, and abusive conduct of APC’s agents . . . had an immediate 

and strong impact” on her. Id. at 9. Specifically, the threat of arrest and demand for immediate 

payment to avoid arrest made during the May 12 call “overcame [her] emotionally, mentally, and 

physically.” Id. After the phone call, her blood pressure rose to dangerous levels, “leaving her 

with shaking hands, belabored breathing, a flushed complexion and red hands, and stiffening and 

discomfort of muscles in her back.” Id. Her grandson also observed her sitting by the window 

constantly “looking out in anxious anticipation of arrest.” Id. This “panicked state” and the 

resulting “emotional strain” continued throughout that night and all throughout the next day. Id. 

at 9–10.  

West cites McHugh v. Check Investors, Inc., No. 5:02cv106, 2003 WL 21283288 (W.D. 

Va. May 21, 2003), as a factually similar case in support of her request. In McHugh, the plaintiff 

received a dunning letter demanding payment of an alleged debt for $148.78, prompting her to 

call the provided number to inquire about this debt. 2003 WL 21283288, at *1. She left a 

message and eventually spoke with an agent about the alleged debt. Id. McHugh requested a 

copy of the check to confirm that she owed the debt, but the agent stated that he was under no 

obligation to provide it, and he “‘became very angry, belligerent,’ and told her that she was trying 
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to run and that ‘we don’t want your money, have fun in jail.’” Id. (internal citation omitted) 

(quoting the complaint and the hearing transcript). The agent also requested personal information 

about the layout of McHugh’s home and whether she lived with others, including children, so he 

could assist the authorities who were coming to arrest her. Id. The agent eventually permitted 

McHugh until 5:00 p.m. to remit payment, which she did because she was “scared and believed 

she would be criminally prosecuted at any time.” Id. at *1–2. Immediately after speaking with 

the agent McHugh called her mother, who testified that “McHugh was hysterical and crying.” Id. 

at *2. McHugh eventually realized that she had made full payment on the debt prior to receiving 

the demand, meaning that “[t]he debt was, in fact, no longer in existence at the time Check 

Investors sent its letter and returned McHugh’s call.” Id. McHugh brought suit against Check 

Investors alleging violations of the FDCPA, and she included a state law claim for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress (“IIED”). Id. at *3–5. The court granted McHugh’s motion for 

default judgment against Check Investors, but declined to award actual damages under the 

FDCPA based on emotional distress in part because it found such damages appropriate under 

McHugh’s IIED claim. Id. at *3–4. Ultimately, the court awarded $10,000 in actual damages on 

the IIED claim related to McHugh’s emotional distress. Id. at *5. Because the court awarded 

relief under the IIED claim, rather than an FDCPA claim, this case is distinguishable. 

West argues that her testimony, her grandson’s testimony, and the similarities to the 

plaintiff in McHugh justify the $10,000 award in actual damages. Although I find that West is 

entitled to actual damages, I do not agree that she has shown she is entitled to the full amount 

requested. Valdez v. Arm Wyn, LLC, provides another factually similar case. In Valdez, the 

plaintiff alleged that agents of the defendant continued to contact her about a debt even after she 

informed them she was represented by an attorney regarding the alleged debt and provided the 
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defendant with her attorney’s contact information. 2015 WL 3661102, at *1. Part of this 

continued contact involved the same agent leaving a “very detailed, nasty message” on Valdez’s 

answering machine. Id. (quoting the complaint). Valdez alleged emotional distress based on this 

conduct. Id. The court concluded that although Valdez sought $5,000 in actual damages based on 

the “‘humiliation, embarrassment, stress, aggravation, emotional distress, and mental anguish’ 

she experienced as a result of Arm Wyn’s FDCPA violations,” she did not provide “a declaration 

or other evidence detailing her specific emotional injuries or how those injuries have hampered 

her life.” Id. (quoting the complaint). The court awarded her $1,000 in actual damages because 

“[e]ven when accepted as true, the court does not believe that a single boilerplate allegation, 

without more, supports a[] significant award of actual damages under the FDCPA.” Id. Here, 

West has provided more than boilerplate allegations, and she and her grandson testified at the 

hearing about the effect of APC’s actions. 

The calls from APC agents and the threats made to West were brazen and appalling. I 

fully credit West’s testimony and that of her grandson that the APC agents’ conduct left her 

shaken and scared. This conduct also had a physical effect on her, causing her blood pressure to 

rise, her breath rate to increase, and her hands to shake. On the other hand, this reaction lasted for 

only a day or so, and at the hearing, West confirmed that she did not seek any medical treatment 

related to these calls because she was already on a lot of medication and a nurse told her to rest 

and “take it easy.” Further, West’s grandson testified that she “calmed down” after she spoke 

with Blue Ridge Legal Services about the incident. Generally, “[c]ourts are ‘reluctant to award 

damages for emotional distress from violations of the FDCPA absent an aggrieved plaintiff 

receiving mental health treatment or evidence that emotional distress concretely affected a 

plaintiff’s personal or professional life.’” Valdez, 2015 WL 3661102, at *3 (quoting Leto v. World 
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Recovery Servs., LLC, No. 3:14-CV-00489, 2015 WL 1897060, *4–5 (W.D.N.C. Apr. 27, 2015)). 

West admitted that she did not seek medical treatment and it appears that her emotional distress 

was not prolonged. That said, West testified that she experienced admittedly severe symptoms 

for the day and a half after APC’s initial contact. Moreover, APC’s conduct as described by West 

was egregious and constitutes a violation of the FDCPA going beyond mere technical violations, 

and West provided convincing evidence that she was adversely affected by these encounters. 

These facts place West’s experience somewhere in between the plaintiffs’ experiences in Valdez 

and McHugh. Therefore, I recommend that the presiding District Judge order APC to pay West 

$5,000 in actual damages stemming from its FDCPA violations.  

As to statutory damages, the FDCPA sets a maximum total award of $1,000. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692k(2)(A). “In determining the appropriate amount of statutory damages, the court must 

consider a number of factors, including the frequency and persistence of the debt collector’s 

noncompliance, the nature of such noncompliance, and the extent to which the noncompliance 

was intentional.” Valdez, 2015 WL 3661102, at *3 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(b)(1)). APC’s 

liability here stems from Ward and Doe’s threatening and harassing conduct during the May 12 

call, as well as technical violations regarding required disclosures committed by Ward, Doe, and 

Kane. When West followed up on the alleged debt, she was informed that APC could not locate 

her file and that she would not be bothered again. This questionable explanation leads to the 

conclusion that APC’s conduct was intentional. Therefore, I recommend that the presiding 

District Judge order that APC pay West $1,000 in statutory damages, the maximum amount 

allowed under the FDCPA. See id.; see also Richardson, 2012 WL 3525625, at *10 

(recommending an award of $1,000 in statutory damages based on persistent conduct and 
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threatening legal action, which the defendant could not and did not take), adopted by 2012 WL 

3525621 (E.D. Va. Aug. 14, 2012). 

D. Attorney’s Fees and Costs 

The last issue to be resolved is West’s Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs. See Pl.’s Mot. 

for Fees, ECF No. 24. The FDCPA expressly contemplates such an award “in the case of any 

successful action to enforce the foregoing liability, the costs of the action, together with a 

reasonable attorney’s fee as determined by the court.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3). “When a plaintiff 

in an FDCPA action establishes liability, an award of attorney’s fees is mandatory except in ‘the 

most unusual circumstances.’” Bickley v. Gregory, No. 2:16cv131, 2016 WL 6306148, at *8 

(E.D. Va. Oct. 7, 2016) (quoting Carroll v. Wolpoff & Abramson, 53 F.3d 626, 628 (4th Cir. 

1995)), adopted by 2016 WL 6398804 (E.D. Va. Oct. 26, 2016).  

In evaluating a motion for attorneys’ fees, the Court considers the reasonableness of the 

fees requested. McAfee v. Boczar, 738 F.3d 81, 88 (4th Cir. 2013). The Fourth Circuit has 

outlined a three-step process for assessing reasonableness. Id. First, the court must determine the 

lodestar figure by multiplying the number of reasonable hours by the reasonable hourly rate. Id. 

Courts in the Fourth Circuit evaluate the reasonableness of the rate and the number of hours 

expended using the twelve factors set out in Johnson v. Georgia Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 

714, 717–19 (5th Cir. 1974).5 McAfee, 738 F.3d at 88 n.5. The resulting lodestar figure enjoys a 

                                                 
5 The twelve factors are: 

(1) The time and labor expended; (2) the novelty and difficulty of the questions raised; 
(3) the skill required to properly perform the legal services rendered; (4) the attorney’s 
opportunity costs in pressing the instant litigation; (5) the customary fee for like work; (6) 
the attorney’s expectations at the outset of the litigation; (7) the time limitations imposed 
by the client or circumstances; (8) the amount in controversy and the results obtained; (9) 
the experience, reputation, and ability of the attorney; (10) the undesirability of the case 
within the legal community in which the suit arose; (11) the nature and length of the 
professional relationship between attorney and client; and (12) attorneys’ fee awards in 
similar cases.  
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strong presumption of reasonableness. See Perdue v. Kenny A. ex rel. Winn, 559 U.S. 542, 554 

(2010). Next, “the court must ‘subtract fees for hours spent on unsuccessful claims unrelated to 

successful ones.’” McAfee, 738 F.3d at 88 (quoting Robinson v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, 560 

F.3d 235, 244 (4th Cir. 2009)). Finally, the court awards a percentage of the remaining amount to 

the prevailing party, depending on the degree of success of the prevailing party’s claims. Id. As 

the party seeking fees, West bears the burden of demonstrating that the amount of fees she seeks 

is reasonable. Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 437 (1983).  

West submitted two exhibits at the evidentiary hearing in support of her fee application, 

specifically the affidavit of Grant Penrod, a local attorney (“Penrod Aff.”), Pl.’s Ex. 1 ECF No. 

27-1, and the declaration of Dathan J. Young, West’s attorney (“Young Decl.”), Pl.’s Ex. 2, ECF 

No. 27-2. Young’s declaration included his billing records, which indicate a total of 43 hours 

spent on West’s case, and requested a $225 hourly rate. Young Decl. ¶ 12. In the exercise of 

billing discretion, Young imposed a voluntary 15% reduction, resulting in a total request of 

$8,223.75 for 36.55 hours of work. Young Decl. Ex. 1, ECF No. 27-2, at 4–6. After the hearing, 

at the Court’s request, West submitted a brief in support of her motion for default judgment. 

Young noted that the original billing records should be adjusted downwards by 0.4 hours for an 

overestimation of the time spent at the evidentiary hearing, but should then be adjusted upwards 

by 7.1 hours for the time it took to prepare the requested brief. Pl.’s Br. in Supp. 10. Thus, West 

ultimately seeks an award of $9,731.25 for 43.25 hours of work.  

A brief recalculation of counsel’s hours request is in order. Young appropriately imposed 

a 15% voluntary reduction in the requested hours, but it appears that he did not apply this 

deduction to the 7.1 hours spent on the supplemental brief requested by the Court. Instead, he 

                                                                                                                                                             
See McAfee, 738 F.3d at 88 n.5. 
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simply added 6.7 hours to the adjusted hours request of 36.55 hours. Factoring in these 

adjustments to the original number of hours spent before applying any reductions puts the total 

hours at 49.7, and applying the 15% reduction to that figure yields 42.25 hours. Thus, I find it 

appropriate to use 42.25 hours as West’s request regarding the reasonable number of hours spent 

on her case. 

As to the calculation of the lodestar, the Court first looks to the reasonableness of the 

hourly rate. The Fourth Circuit has explained that “[t]he hourly rate included in an attorney’s fee 

must . . . be reasonable.” Rum Creek Coal Sales, Inc. v. Caperton, 31 F.3d 169, 175 (4th Cir. 

1994). Generally, “[t]his requirement is met by compensating attorneys at the ‘prevailing market 

rates in the relevant community.’” Id. (quoting Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 894 (1984)). Here, 

I find that the requested hourly rate of $225 is reasonable for an attorney of Young’s experience 

in the Western District of Virginia, specifically the Harrisonburg Division. Penrod attests that he 

formerly supervised Young at Blue Ridge Legal Services and in his opinion, Young’s hourly rate 

is “lower than the hourly rates of other attorneys with similar quality of work and experience.” 

Penrod Aff. ¶¶ 4–5. This affidavit provides appropriate support for Young’s proposed hourly rate. 

Additionally, an examination of comparable cases across this District supports the 

reasonableness of this rate. See Valdez, 2015 WL 3661102, at *4 (reducing the requested hourly 

rate of $450 for a “non-VA partner attorney” to $250 for work performed on a motion for default 

judgment); McHugh, 2003 WL 21283288, at *4 (finding an hourly rate of $200 reasonable for 

attorney worked performed on a motion for default judgment). 

West also bears the burden of demonstrating that the number of attorney hours expended 

on the case was reasonable. See SunTrust Mortg., Inc. v. AIG United Guar. Corp., 933 F. Supp. 

2d 762, 774 (E.D. Va. 2013). To meet this burden, the fee applicant must provide documented 
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support, i.e., “reliable billing records,” of the need to have dedicated the amount of time for 

which compensation is sought. Id. These records “must represent the product of ‘billing 

judgment,’” in that the number of hours requested must be adjusted “to delete duplicative or 

unrelated hours.” Rum Creek Coal Sales, 31 F.3d at 175 (quoting Hensley, 461 U.S. at 437). 

Here, Young exercised good billing judgment by imposing a 15% reduction in the number of 

hours he billed related to the case. Additionally, Penrod’s affidavit speaks to Young’s skill and 

experience. Given this support, I find that the number of hours expended on the case was 

reasonable. 

Therefore, the resulting lodestar figure is $9,506.25. This figure reflects 42.25 hours of 

compensable work at Young’s reasonable hourly rate of $225.  

The next step is to make any appropriate reductions for time spent on unsuccessful claims 

unrelated to the Plaintiff’s successful claims. Robinson, 560 F.3d at 244. Here, West filed suit 

against six defendants and voluntarily dismissed four of them after failing to serve process within 

the time allowed. Regarding the present motion, West seeks default judgment against both 

Jackson and APC, but I find that default judgment is proper only as to APC. That said, West has 

demonstrated that she is entitled to default judgment against one of the defendants, and this case 

“involve[d] a common core of facts,” Hensley, 461 U.S. at 435. Therefore, I recommend that the 

presiding District Judge make no reductions to the lodestar figure on this basis. 

The final step is to award some percentage of the lodestar figure to the prevailing party, 

depending on the plaintiff’s degree of success. McAfee, 738 F.3d at 88. Typically, adjustments 

made at this step concern whether to increase the award because the lodestar figure is deemed 

insufficient to compensate the prevailing party based on its success. See, e.g., id. Such a 

departure is warranted only under rare circumstances because “there is a ‘strong presumption’ 
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that the lodestar figure is reasonable.” Perdue, 559 U.S. at 554. West does not request an 

enhancement of the lodestar figure, and there are no “rare circumstances” present that would 

support a departure from that otherwise reasonable figure. 

Last, as to litigation costs, West also seeks $165 in litigation costs for service of process, 

and she attached the pertinent check. Young Decl. Ex. 1. I find that this cost is reasonable and 

should be awarded in its entirety. 

IV. Conclusion 

 For the foregoing reasons, I respectfully recommend that the presiding District Judge 

GRANT in part and DENY in part West’s Motion for Default Judgment against Defendants 

APC and Jackson. ECF No. 22. Specifically, I recommend that default judgment be entered 

against Defendant APC, and that APC be ordered to pay West $5,000 in actual damages and 

$1,000 in statutory damages under the FDCPA. The motion should be denied with respect to 

Defendant Jackson, and he should be dismissed from the action without prejudice for lack of 

personal jurisdiction. I also recommend that the presiding District Judge GRANT West’s Motion 

for Attorney Fees and Costs, ECF No. 24, and that she be awarded $9,671.25 in attorney’s fees 

and costs, to be paid by Defendant APC.  

Notice to Parties 

Notice is hereby given to the parties of the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C): 

Within fourteen days after being served with a copy [of this Report and 
Recommendation], any party may serve and file written objections to such 
proposed findings and recommendations as provided by rules of court. A judge of 
the court shall make a de novo determination of those portions of the report or 
specified proposed findings or recommendations to which objection is made. A 
judge of the court may accept, reject, or modify, in whole or in part, the findings 
or recommendations made by the magistrate judge. The judge may also receive 
further evidence or recommit the matter to the magistrate judge with instructions. 
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Failure to file timely written objections to these proposed findings and recommendations 

within 14 days could waive appellate review. At the conclusion of the 14 day period, the Clerk is 

directed to transmit the record in this matter to the Honorable Michael F. Urbanski, Chief United 

States District Judge. 

The Clerk shall send copies of this Report and Recommendation to all counsel of record. 

 ENTER: July 25, 2018 

       
      Joel C. Hoppe 
      United States Magistrate Judge 
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